War Comes to Morristown
By the time of the American Revolution, Morris Township consisted of over 35,000 acres and included eight sawmills, nine grist mills, eight iron forges, six tanneries, four stills, seven taverns, one fulling mill, seven merchants, thirty-three slaves, and more than five hundred additional residents. The county seat, the village of Morristown, boasted about seventy buildings and approximately two hundred and fifty inhabitants. There were two churches on the town green, and a building that served as both the courthouse and jail.
The coming of the Revolutionary War brought a number of changes to the village. The British army never approached any closer than Basking Ridge or Connecticut Farms [Union], it was the presence of the American troops that would dramatically alter the life of the town.
Because of Morristown’s location at the junction of important east-west and north-south roadways, American troops constantly passed through town. In 1776 after the British invaded New Jersey, the citizens of Morristown asked General Washington to allow some of his troops to quarter in and protect the town.
General Washington first brought his army to Morristown in January of 1777 after the successful raids on Trenton and Princeton. The Continental Army numbered fewer than 2500 troops, and were housed in and around Morristown, where they would remain until May 1777.
The two churches became hospitals, as the soldiers brought not only crowded conditions, but two separate epidemics as well. Dysentery swept through the population, but the coming of a smallpox epidemic posed such a threat that the General ordered controversial inoculations be carried out on both military and civilian personnel. The annual death rate for Morristown averaged about forty-two in a normal year. In 1777, an all time annual high of 205 deaths were recorded - more than half of these deaths were the result of the twin epidemics.
During their stay, the army’s Commissary Department ordered bake ovens be built in order to supply the troops with bread. By 1780, there were two bake ovens in town, which produced 1,500 loaves of bread per day for the military supply. Eventually, another oven was built. Other military supply departments were also situated in Morristown. The Forage Department, which supplied fodder for the army’s livestock, established a forage yard, a storehouse and two hay barracks. A slaughter yard was installed in 1778. The army also maintained military storehouses in Morristown throughout the war. At least twenty town structures were used to this end. The type of supply varied widely, ranging from tents, clothing, camp equipment, stationary, hardware, carpenters tools, to entrenching tools. To maintain the stores and houses, the quartermaster employed various store keepers, clerks, measurers, fatiquemen [possibly a custodial position], express riders, woodcutters, carpenters, blacksmiths, tentmakers, harness makers, and nailers.
After leaving winter quarters in May of 1777, the Continental Army later returned to Morristown briefly, remaining less than a week, from July 4 though 10, 1777, and then passed through again on June 4, 1779. The longest Morristown encampment was the winter of 1779-1780. With the permission of the owners, officers were quartered in private homes. So many homes were being used by officers that complaints arose that others could not find quarters within four miles of the camp.
General Washington and his entourage rented rooms from the Widow Ford on Morris Street; General Nathaneal Greene and his wife took rooms at the Arnold Tavern, and Surgeon General Cochran stayed with his peer, Dr. Jabez Campfield in Morristown, while over ten thousand troops were required to build their own shelters in Jockey Hollow just south of town.   
The quarters obtained for the officers, however, were not always necessarily worthy of the rent. General Parsons wrote, “…the room I have now is not more than eight feet square for six of us; and the family worse than the Devil.” When local tavern keeper Jacob Arnold complained to General Greene about his presence, the General curtly replied that “…you may depend upon it that the officers of the army will not lodge in the open fields for fear of putting the inhabitants to a little inconvenience... Some people in this neighbourhood are polite and obliging; others are the reverse.”
One may assume that the military presence was a financial boon to Morristown. The army had to buy supplies from local farmers and merchants. Townsfolk might make extra money by renting rooms to officers. And eventually, surplus supply might be sold off locally to the area’s advantage. Unfortunately, none of the extant testimony views the military presence in a positive light, most are decidedly negative: “Gen. Washington’s Headquarters and a great part of our army were a long time in Morristown: the enemy never came here but the licentiousness of our troops had damaged the town a great deal,” wrote post office official Ebenezer Hazard in August of 1777. Nor did much change between encampments. On Christmas Day 1779, General Greene recorded local sentiments; “They receive us with coldness and provide for us with reluctance.”
This attitude may be more understandable when considering the whole picture. The army made a great many demands on the locals for supplies and paid for them with either Continental scrip that had been inflated almost to the point of uselessness, or with promissory vouchers (a year after the end of the war, the people of Morristown still had not received compensation on promissory notes and petitioned the state for redress). The army’s presence also caused severe crowding, brought disease, theft, and the destruction of property.
Locals were hired to provide wagons, sleighs, and draft teams that worked for the army and transported their supplies rather than remain at home to attend their own chores. The common soldier was most responsible for theft and property damage. Foodstuffs and livestock were, of course, at the top of a soldier’s forage list, but more than just a few chickens were stolen. Theft claims filed by Morris County residents included clothing, household items, tools, bedding, cloth, and slaves. Damage claims ranged from complaints about army horses grazing on private property to the destruction by fire of a blacksmith’s shop.
Morristown jail was often crowded with Tory prisoners from all over northern New Jersey. Occasionally additional German, British, or American military prisoners were housed in the jail as well. In January 1780, the Justices of Morris County complained to General Washington that the army guards using the local jail had damaged it so badly that it had been rendered useless, and further, the guards had allowed all the prisoners to escape. They asked that the army repair the damages and the General promised to look into the matter. Quick resolutions, however, were not the rule. An order from Washington dated 1782 directed Col. Timothy Pickering to “…repair the injuries [to the jail] or make compensation in some other way.” 
In 1776, the people of Morristown wanted nothing more than to have the army stay in town in order to protect them. When the troops actually did come, however, the townsfolk found they got more than they had bargained for. The soldiers they had hoped would protect them from harm brought with them deadly disease, stole and damaged property, and caused severe overcrowding. Despite the uneasy relationship between Morristown and the military, however, the town’s role was vital to the American cause and part of New Jersey’s vast contribution to the revolution.
